2006

Kenneth D. Newman v. White Water Whirlpool and Bradley J. Sundquist : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann., § 78-2-3(2)(j), as a case transferred by the Utah Supreme Court.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW BY APPEAL & CROSS-APPEAL

ISSUE ON APPEAL: Whether Sundquist was in the course and scope of his employment at the time of the subject accident, thereby making White Water vicariously liable; and,

Whether the trial court erred in granting White Water's motion for summary judgment, and denying Newman's motion for partial summary judgment, ruling that as a matter of law Sundquist was not in the course and scope of his employment.

STANDARD OF REVIEW: Appellate courts review a grant of summary judgment "for correctness, viewing the facts and inferences to be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." Ahlstrom v. Salt Lake City Corp., 73 P.3d 315, 317 (Utah 2003). As the Court further clarified, "This standard is somewhat complicated in this case because determinations about whether an employee is acting within the scope of employment are questions of fact. Nevertheless, in this case the facts are undisputed and we review such matters for correction of error. Thus, in this case, we review the district court's grant of partial summary judgment for correctness." *Id.* (citations omitted.)

ISSUE PRESERVED: This issue was raised in the trial court by Plaintiff Newman's motion for partial summary judgment (R. 58) and Defendant White Water's cross-motion for summary judgment (R. 92 and 95.)

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES AND RULES

None. The issues raised in this appeal are governed by case law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below

This case involves a claim for personal injuries arising from an auto accident where the primary issue, for purposes of this appeal, is whether the tortfeasor was within the course and scope of his employment at the time of the accident. Newman, the Plaintiff, brought suit against the tortfeasor, Sundquist, and his employer, White Water.

The material facts in this case were undisputed. Therefore, Newman filed a motion for partial summary judgment arguing that Sundquist was in the course and scope of his employment as a matter of law. White Water filed a cross-motion for summary judgment arguing that he was not, and that Newman's claims against White Water should be dismissed. The trial court held a hearing on June 1, 2006, and subsequently issued a Memorandum Decision on August 2, 2006 (Included in the Addendum hereto). In its Memorandum Decision, the trial court denied Newman's motion and granted White

Water's, ruling that Sundquist was not in the course and scope of his employment at the time of the accident, but was merely commuting to work. That decision was finalized in an Order and Summary Judgment filed on September 5, 2006.

Statement of Facts

On June 29, 2004, around 5:00 to 5:30 a.m., Newman was driving southbound on I-15 near the Point of the Mountain when he was involved in a collision with a truck and trailer being driven by Sundquist. (R. 62, ¶ 14.) Newman and his passenger were ejected from the vehicle. Newman's passenger died as a result of his injuries. Newman suffered catastrophic injuries, including numerous fractures, and severe traumatic brain injury, resulting in strokes and seizures. (R. 62, ¶ 15.) Newman is permanently disabled and has incurred somewhere in the neighborhood of \$200,000 in medical expenses. Prior to this appeal, Newman settled with Sundquist's insurer (specifically reserving the issue of White Water's liability) for policy limits of \$25,000. Therefore, Sundquist is not a party to this appeal.

At all relevant times, Sundquist was an employee of White Water. (R. 60, ¶ 1.) White Water's business includes the manufacture, sale and installation of various cultured marble products, counter tops, tile, and other similar products. (R. 60, ¶ 2.) Sundquist was employed by White Water as an "installer." (R. 60, ¶ 1.) As an installer, Sundquist would typically pick up White Water's products at their facility in Utah County, travel to various job sites (in northern Utah County, Salt Lake County and Davis County) install the products, and return extra, unused or unwanted products to White Water's facilities. (R. 61, ¶ 9.) Sundquist's job responsibilities specifically included transporting White Water's products to and from job sites. (R. 60, ¶ 2 and 3.) Sundquist did not receive an

hourly wage, but rather received a percentage of each job he worked on. (R. 61, ¶ 10.)

As a result, Sundquist was compensated for not only installing White Water's products at the job sites, but also transporting those products to and from those sites.

As an installer, Sundquist was required to, "have some ability to take the material to the job site, but we don't specify what those requirements are." (R. 60, ¶ 4.) To fulfill this requirement, White Water provided its installers, including Sundquist, with a monthly allowance for vehicle and gas expenses. (R. 60, ¶ 5.) In order to meet the job requirements (i.e., transporting material to and from job sites) Sundquist purchased a pickup truck in early 2003. (R. 60, ¶ 6.) Later, in March 2004, Sundquist purchased a Haulmark trailer from White Water, also to be used in hauling products to and from job sites. (R. 61, ¶ 7.) White Water financed the purchase of the trailer for Sundquist, the agreement for which required Sundquist to pay interest of 12% to White Water, and White Water subsequently withheld \$76.68 from Sundquist's paychecks for a period of four years. (R. 61, ¶ 8.)

Sundquist's typical work day would begin between 4:00 a.m and 5:00 a.m., when he would travel from his home in Salt Lake City to the White Water facility in Utah County, where he would return products from the prior day's jobs, learn what jobs he had for that day, and pick up products for those new jobs. He would then travel from White Water's facility to his various job sites delivering and installing the products. Sundquist would typically work until 6:00 p.m. or 8:00 p.m. at these sites. Because of the late hour,

and the fact that he lived in Salt Lake County, he would then go to his home, in Salt Lake County, taking any remaining products from that day's jobs with him, rather than immediately returning to White Water. The following morning he would resume where he left off, traveling to White Water to return the products, and pick up new. (R. 61, ¶ 9.)

On the day of the accident, June 29, 2004, Sundquist was traveling southbound on I-15 near the point of the mountain around 5:00 to 5:30 a.m., as was his custom. (R. 61, ¶ 11.) Sundquist was driving his pickup and pulling the Haulmark trailer. (R. 62, ¶ 12.) Sundquist was traveling to White Water's facility in Utah County. (R. 62, ¶ 12.) On that day, Sundquist had White Water's products in his trailer, including "custom vanity counter tops and a few window sills and back splashes. . ." that he was returning to White Water's facility. (R. 62, ¶ 12 and 13.) Sundquist was returning those products to White Water because the installation jobs from the prior day were not ready, and the products "had to go back to White Water." (R. 62, ¶ 13.) He was hauling White Water's products from a job site, as per his job requirements.

As Newman and Sundquist were both proceeding southbound on I-15, near the Point of the Mountain, they collided. Newman suffered significant injury in that accident, and filed suit against Sundquist, and his employer, White Water. Newman has alleged that Sundquist was in the course and scope of his employment at the time of the accident and that White Water should be held vicariously liable.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Newman argues that Sundquist was in the course and scope of his employment at the time of the accident, and that this should have been found, as a matter of law. This conclusion is reached by applying the facts of this case to the criteria established in the case of Birkner v. Salt Lake County, 771 P.2d 1053 (Utah 1989). Birkner is the seminal case in Utah for determining when an employee is within the course and scope of his employment. In this case, Sundquist was about his employer's business, was within his ordinary hours and spatial boundaries of his employment, and was serving his employer's interest. Birkner dictates that Sundquist be found to be within the course and scope of his employment.

Not only did the trial court deny Newman's motion, but it granted White Water's motion, ruling that, as a matter of law, Sundquist was not in the course and scope of his employment, and dismissing Newman's claims against White Water. In effect, the trial court ruled that no reasonable person could find that Sundquist was in the course and scope of his employment. To reach this decision, the trial court relied on the case of Ahlstrom v. Salt Lake City Corp., 73 P.3d 315 (Utah 2003). In this case, the court ruled that the tortfeasor was not in the course and scope of her employment because she was commuting from work, and the coming and going rule applied. However, Ahlstrom is readily distinguishable and does not apply to the facts of this case. In this case, Sundquist

was not just commuting to work, rather he was hauling his employer's commercial products pursuant to his job duties, and for which he was being paid.

Newman argues that the trial court should have found, as a matter of law, that Sundquist was in the course and scope of his employment, and granted Newman's motion. However, at the very least, the trial court should have denied both motions and left this issue for the jury. In no event should the trial court have held that Sundquist was not in the course and scope of his employment and granted White Water's motion.

ARGUMENT

I. THE BIRKNER CRITERIA ESTABLISH THAT SUNDQUIST WAS IN THE COURSE AND SCOPE OF HIS EMPLOYMENT

The undisputed facts establish that Sundquist's job duties included hauling White Water's products and materials to and from job sites. Sundquist was paid for hauling these materials, since he received a percentage or commission from each job. Sundquist was also driving a vehicle for which he received a monthly allowance from White Water, and was pulling a trailer that White Water was financing for him. Most importantly, however, at the time of the accident Sundquist was hauling White Water products and returning them to White Water's facility.

Under the doctrine of *respondeat superior*, an employer is vicariously liable for the torts committed by its employee when that employee is, "acting within the course and scope of his employment." Christensen v. Swenson, 874 P.2d 125, 127 (Utah 1994). The issue that must be decided by this Court, is whether Sundquist was acting within the course and scope of his employment at the time of the accident, so as to make White Water vicariously liable for Sundquist's negligence.

In Birkner v. Salt Lake County, 771 P.2d 1053 (Utah 1989), the Utah Supreme Court set forth three "criteria" to be used in determining whether an employee is acting in the course and scope of his employment. The use of these criteria has been repeatedly affirmed by the Utah Supreme Court. See Christensen, Id., and Clover v. Snowbird Ski Resort, 808 P.2d 1037 (Utah 1991). As the Utah Supreme Court has stated:

We articulated three criteria [in Birkner] helpful in determining whether an employee is acting within or outside the scope of her employment. First, the employee's conduct must be of the general kind the employee is hired to perform, that is, the employee must be about the employer's business and the duties assigned by the employer, as opposed to being wholly involved in a personal endeavor. Second, the employee's conduct must occur substantially within the hours and ordinary spatial boundaries of the employment. Finally, the employee's conduct must be motivated, at least in part, by the purpose of serving the employer's interest.

Christensen, *supra* at 127. The application of these criteria to the facts of this case demonstrate that Sundquist was acting within the course and scope of his employment at the time of the accident.

1. Sundquist was About His Employer's Business

The first Birkner criterion states that, to be found within the course and scope of employment, the "employee's conduct must be of the general kind the employee is hired to perform, that is, the employee must be about the employer's business and the duties assigned by the employer, as opposed to being wholly involved in a personal endeavor." Christensen, *Id.* In the present case, Sundquist was hauling White Water's products and materials, and was returning those products to White Water's facility. The hauling of these items was part of Sundquist's job duties, and he was being compensated to complete that task. Sundquist was not "wholly involved in a personal endeavor." He was about White Water's business. The first Birkner criteria supports Newman's argument that Sundquist was in the course and scope of his employment at the time of the accident.

2. Sundquist Was Within His Ordinary Hours and Spatial Boundaries

The second Birkner criterion states that the employee's conduct must, "occur substantially within the hours and ordinary spatial boundaries of the employment." In this case, Sundquist transported White Water's products to and from, and installed products at job sites located in, northern Utah County, Salt Lake County, and Davis County. He routinely traveled from White Water's facilities in Utah County to various job sites in all three of these counties. He performed his transportation duties using a pickup truck for which he received a monthly allowance from White Water. Sundquist's conduct, which gives rise to this case, occurred while Sundquist was driving that pickup truck on southbound I-15, at the point of the mountain. Sundquist's conduct took place in the ordinary spatial boundaries of his employment (i.e., inside his vehicle, and on a roadway routinely traveled in performing his job duties).

Sundquist's conduct took place at approximately 5:00 to 5:30 a.m. Sundquist testified that it was his routine to travel to White Water's facilities, at this time of the morning, to return White Water's products to their facility. Therefore, Sundquist's conduct took place within the ordinary hours of his employment. Based upon the foregoing, the second criterion supports Newman's claim that Sundquist was within the course and scope of his employment at the time of the accident.

3. Sundquist Was Serving His Employer's Interest

The third Birkner criterion states that, “the employee’s conduct must be motivated, at least in part, by the purpose of serving the employer’s interest.” In this case, Sundquist was traveling to White Water’s facilities, at least in part, because he was hauling White Water products that had to go back to their facility. Even if he had other motives, or a dual purpose, at least part (and a significant part at that) of Sundquist’s motivation was to return products to White Water’s facility. The third criterion also supports Newman’s argument that Sundquist was in the course and scope of his employment.

All three of the criteria established by Birkner suggest that Sundquist was acting in the course and scope of his employment at the time of the accident. The Court should then look to determine if a variation from the Birkner analysis is warranted in this case. As the Utah Supreme Court has recognized:

Under specific factual situations, such as when the employee’s conduct serves a dual purpose or when the employee takes a personal detour in the course of carrying out his employer’s directions, this court has occasionally used variations of this approach. These variations, however, are not departures from the criteria advanced in Birkner. Rather, they are methods of applying the criteria in specific factual situations.

Clover v. Snowbird Ski Resort, 808 P.2d 1037, 1040. (Utah 1991).The “variations”

identified in Clover are discussed below, with specific reference to the facts of this case.

However, those variations do not change the conclusion dictated by Birkner that Sundquist was acting within the course and scope of his employment.

II. DUAL PURPOSE, PERSONAL DETOUR, AND GOING AND COMING RULES DO NOT CHANGE THE RESULT

1. Dual Purpose Rule

In the present case, it can be argued that Sundquist was serving dual purposes at the time of the accident. He was hauling White Water's products back to their facility. He was also traveling to work, to pick up his jobs and materials for the new work day (albeit in required and subsidized transportation). The former would benefit White Water, whereas the latter could arguably serve Sundquist's personal interest. As the Utah Supreme Court has articulated regarding the dual purpose doctrine:

Under this doctrine, if an employee's actions are motivated by the dual purpose of benefitting the employer and serving some personal interest, the actions will usually be considered within the scope of employment. However, if the primary motivation for the activity is personal, even though there may be some transaction of business or performance of duty merely incidental or adjunctive thereto, the person should not be deemed to be in the scope of his employment.

Clover v. Snowbird Ski Resort, 808 P.2d 1037, 1041. (Utah 1991). In this case, Sundquist was arguably motivated by the dual purposes of returning White Water's product to their facility, and by traveling to work. As a result, his actions would "usually" be considered within the scope of employment. This conclusion would only change if Sundquist's "primary" motivation was to serve his personal interest. In the present case there is no evidence suggesting Sundquist's "primary" interest was traveling to work. Rather, he testified that he was returning White Water's products to their facility because they had to go back.

In Whitehead v. Variable Annuity Life Ins. Co., 801 P.2d 934 (Utah 1989), the Court announced another test to use in a dual purpose case for determining whether an employee's conduct served his own, or his employer's interests. The Court stated, "One useful test is whether the trip is one which would have required the employer to send another employee over the same route or to perform the same function if the trip had not been made." *Id.* at 937. In the present case, Sundquist had to return White Water's products from the job site in Salt Lake County to White Water's facility in Utah County. If Sundquist had not performed that task, White Water would have had to send another employee to get those products and return them to their facility.

Even under the dual purpose doctrine, Sundquist's conduct should be found to be within the course and scope of his employment.

2. Personal Detour/Errand Rule

In the present case, White Water has argued that Sundquist went home after his last delivery, rather than traveling directly to White Water's facility, and that this was a personal detour that releases White Water from liability. Utah cases have recognized the principle that an employer may not be held liable for an employee's conduct if that employee makes a personal detour or errand, and an accident occurs while the employee is on that detour or errand. However, those cases have also recognized that liability reattaches when the employee resumes his employment after the detour or errand. The Court explained this doctrine in Clover v. Snowbird Ski Resort, 808 P.2d 1037, 1042

(Utah 1991). In that case, a Snowbird employee was employed as a chef at a restaurant at the base of the resort, as well as one mid-way up one of the lifts. As with other employees, he would ski from the upper restaurant to the lower restaurant when necessary. On the day of the accident, the employee had finished working at the upper restaurant. The employee then made four runs down the mountain (i.e., a personal detour) before heading down the mountain to begin work at the lower restaurant. The employee injured another skier as he was heading down the mountain to go to, but before he reached, the lower restaurant. The Court ultimately held that whether the employee was acting within the course and scope of his employment or not was a question of fact for the jury. However, the Court's analysis is helpful here. The Court stated:

In past cases, in holding that the actions of an employee were within the scope of employment, we have relied on the fact that the employee had resumed the duties of employment prior to the time of the accident. This is an important factor because if the employee has resumed the duties of employment, the employee is then 'about the employer's business' and the employee's actions will be 'motivated' at least in part, by the purpose of serving the employer's interest.

The Court continued, "we have held that employees may be within the scope of employment if, after a personal detour, they return to their duties and an accident occurs."

Id. The Court subsequently held that the employee's, "action were not, as a matter of law, outside the scope of his employment. . ." but were to be left for the jury.

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