2006

Kenneth D. Newman v. White Water Whirlpool and Bradley J. Sundquist : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

At the time of the accident, Sundquist was commuting from home to work. His trip was personal in nature. The personal benefits to Sundquist heavily outweigh the mere benefit to, and lack of control by, White Water. As such, Sundquist was not in the course and scope of his employment per the coming and going rule and White Water cannot be vicariously liable for his negligence. The trial court was correct in granting summary judgment to White Water pursuant to the coming and going rule and its decision should be affirmed.

No exception to the coming and going rule changes the outcome. There was no dual purpose involved, as Sundquist's primary motivation for the trip was to get to work as required to receive the day's assignments and materials. There was no personal detour

or errand, as Sundquist went home at the end of the day and was not on a temporary or slight deviation.

Newman's reliance upon Anderson is misplaced. Anderson v. Gobe, 501 P.2d 453, 457 (Ariz. App. 1972). Not only is this case from the Arizona Court of Appeals, but it is factually different from what we have here because the employer asked the employee to conduct a special errand, during which an accident occurred. On the other hand, White Water's reliance upon Ahlstrom is appropriate. Ahlstrom v. Salt Lake City Corp., 2002 UT 4, 73 P.3d 315. It is the Utah Supreme Court case most on point. It sets forth the analysis of the coming and going rule under factual circumstances similar to those found here and holds that the coming and going rule applies. The fact that a later decision allowed the employee to collect workers' compensation benefits resulting from the same accident does not make Ahlstrom "precarious." Third party negligence cases are decided under a different standard of review than workers' compensation cases.

Sundquist's commute is so outside the course and scope of his employment pursuant to the coming and going rule that reasonable minds could not differ. As such, it was appropriate for the trial court to grant White Water's motion for summary judgment as a matter of law and dismiss Newman's action against it. The trial court's decision should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COMING AND GOING RULE ESTABLISHES THAT SUNDQUIST WAS NOT IN THE COURSE AND SCOPE OF HIS EMPLOYMENT AT THE TIME OF THE ACCIDENT.

It is undisputed that Sundquist was commuting from his home to his work at the time of the accident. He was traveling to the offices of his employer, White Water, in his own vehicle pulling his own trailer. Sundquist was required to check in each work day at White Water's offices to, among other things, pick up his assignments and materials for that day's work. Sundquist was doing what he did every work day: travel in his own vehicle to his place of employment. As such, he falls within the coming and going rule and was not in the course and scope of his employment at the time of the accident.

Under the doctrine of *respondeat superior*, an employer can be held vicariously liable for the acts of its employee only if the employee was in the course and scope of his employment at the time of the act. Christensen, 874 P.2d at 127; Whitehead v. Variable Annuity Life Ins. Co., 801 P.2d 934, 935 (Utah 1989). Generally, there are three criteria used to determine if an employee is in the course and scope of his employment. Birkner v. Salt Lake County, 771 P.2d 1053, 1056 (Utah 1989). The criteria are: (1) "an employee's conduct must be of the general kind the employee is employed to perform;" (2) "the employee's conduct must occur within the hours of the employee's work and the ordinary spatial boundaries of the employment;" and (3) "the employee's conduct must be motivated, at least in part, by the purpose of serving the employer's interest." Id. at 1057.

However, when an employee is traveling to or from work, he is generally not considered to be in the course and scope of his employment. “As a general rule, an employee is not acting within the course and scope of his employment when he is traveling in his own automobile to and from work.” Whitehead, 801 P.2d at 935 (citations omitted). This is known as the coming and going rule and it is applicable in third party negligence claims like the lawsuit here. Id. at 936, 938.

The rationale for the coming and going rule is sound.

The major premise of the “going and coming” rule is that it is unfair to impose unlimited liability on an employer for conduct of its employees over which it has no control and from which it derives no benefit.

Whitehead, 801 P.2d at 937. “Therefore, the major focus in determining whether or not the general rule should apply in a given case is on the benefit the employer receives and his control over the conduct.” Id. This is the focus because an employer is liable for its employee’s negligence only if the employee is acting for the benefit of the employer and under the employer’s control. Id. Where an employer has no control over the employee’s decision to commute to and from work, the route chosen, or the manner in which the employee drives his vehicle, the employer is not liable for the employee’s negligence. Id.

The Utah Supreme Court case most on point is Ahlstrom. In that case, a police officer was involved in an accident while driving a city-owned marked police car from a mandatory work meeting to her home. Ahlstrom v. Salt Lake City Corp., 2002 UT 4, ¶ 2, 73 P.3d 315. At the time of the accident, the officer was carrying certain items owned by

her employer. Id. She was required to monitor her employer's radio and respond to any emergency calls. Id. The Utah Supreme Court reversed the trial court's grant of summary judgment to the injured plaintiffs, and in doing so held that, absent "unique circumstances," liability should not attach to an employer for the negligent acts of its employee when traveling to or from work, in accordance with the coming and going rule. Id. at ¶ 13.

In order to properly analyze the applicability of the coming and going rule, one must weigh the benefit to and control by the employer against the personal nature of the employee's trip to or from work.

[W]here an employee engages in conduct benefitting the employer or which is controlled by the employer, we weigh the benefit and control against the personal nature of the trip in order to determine where it is appropriate to place liability.

Ahlstrom, 2002 UT 4 at ¶ 9.

Typically, courts have adopted the methodology of dissecting the circumstances of the trip that resulted in the injury, assaying each for indicia of benefit, assigning the element of benefit to either the employer or the employee, and tallying up the final allocation of benefits.

Salt Lake City Corp. v. Labor Commission, 2007 UT 4, ¶ 20, 153 P.3d 179. If the benefits to the employer from the employee's trip to or from work are insufficient to "tip the balance" of benefits to the side of the employer, the coming and going rule applies and the employee is not in the course and scope of employment. Id. at ¶ 21. In weighing the benefits, one must keep in mind that a "mere benefit" to the employer, or the exercise of "some control" "is not enough to overcome the general premises of the coming and

going rule.” Ahlstrom, 2002 UT 4 at ¶ 8. Liability to the employer will not attach simply because “the employer derives *any* benefit or exercises *any* control over the conduct” Id. at ¶ 9.

The personal nature of Sundquist’s commute to work outweighs any mere benefit to White Water and the lack of control it exercised over Sundquist’s conduct on the morning of the accident. Sundquist’s travel was personal in nature and for his own personal benefit. In order to maintain his employment, he had to travel to and arrive at work. He had to do so to receive his assignments and materials so that he could install the products and receive payment on the installations. He was traveling in his own vehicle, which he insured, and was pulling his own trailer. Simply arriving at work is not a substantial benefit to an employer. Van Leeuwen v. Industrial Commission of Utah, 901 P.2d 281, 285 (Utah App. 1995). It is personal in nature and benefits the employee.

In addition, the fact that Sundquist was able to travel with his employer’s unused materials in his trailer, along with his own tools, to his home at the end of the work day, instead of being required to return them that same day before returning home, is to the benefit of Sundquist, not White Water. He was able to get home earlier, with the obvious benefits associated therewith. It was common for Sundquist to take advantage of this opportunity, and to then return White Water’s items when he traveled to work, as he was required to do every work day anyway. He was not a paid delivery driver, as suggested by Newman. Sundquist’s job was to install White Water’s products, and that is what he

was paid to do. His responsibilities did include transporting White Water's materials to and from job sites - so that he could install them. His responsibilities did not include transporting those materials to and from his home.

In comparison, there is minimal benefit to White Water found in Sundquist's commute to work on the morning of the accident, and there is a complete lack of control over his conduct. The mere benefit to White Water is the return of its unused products and materials, which could have been done the night before. In addition, there is no evidence that White Water controlled any aspect of Sundquist's travel. It did not dictate Sundquist's route or how he drove. White Water did not choose the time for Sundquist's departure from home or whether or not he made any stops before arriving at work. Any argument that because Sundquist drove a truck and pulled a trailer to transport the materials shows White Water's control over his activities is misplaced. Sundquist could have chosen any number of means of transport. He was not required to use a trailer. White Water did not dictate the means of transport chosen and owned by Sundquist. In any event, when weighing the benefits the focus is on the particular trip involving the accident. Ahlstrom, 2002 UT 4 at ¶ 9; Salt Lake City Corp., 2007 UT 4 at ¶ 20. White Water did not control Sundquist's conduct on any particular trip to or from work, including the one at issue.

Also, Newman's suggestion that Sundquist would not have been traveling south on I-15 in his own vehicle if not for the fact that he was hauling White Water's products is

simply incorrect. Whether or not he had already returned the products the night before, he still had to travel the same route on I-15 to report to work as required.

If carrying items belonging to your employer was all that it took to get outside the coming and going rule, employers would be open to the unlimited liability against which the rule is designed to protect. Whitehead, 801 P.2d at 937. A school teacher grading papers at home at night and returning them the next morning would expose her employer to liability if she is in an accident. A plumber unable to install a sink before the end of the day might create vicarious liability for his employer if he goes straight home for dinner with the sink in his truck and then gets in an accident on the way back to the shop the next day. So it is here. Sundquist was merely traveling to work with some of his employer's products in his trailer. There is nothing unique about his circumstances.

The personal nature of Sundquist's trip is not outweighed by the one fact that he was carrying some of his employer's products during his commute to work. In Ahlstrom, it was not enough to overcome the coming and going rule that the police officer traveled in a city-owned vehicle, carried numerous items owned by the city, and was required to use the vehicle and items off-duty if called upon. There is even less here in support of any argument against the application of the coming and going rule. "The conclusion that liability should not attach unless there are unique circumstances is in accord with the stated purposes of the coming and going rule" Ahlstrom, 2002 UT 4 at ¶ 13. After

weighing and tallying the benefits, the scale tips heavily toward Sundquist. As a result, the coming and going rule applies.

Therefore, because Sundquist was simply commuting to work in his own vehicle, he falls within the coming and going rule. As such, he was not in the course and scope of his employment at the time of the accident and the trial court's grant of summary judgment to White Water was proper and should be affirmed.

II. THE DUAL PURPOSE RULE IS NOT APPLICABLE.

Newman argues that, even if Sundquist was not in the course and scope of his employment pursuant to the coming and going rule, White Water should still be vicariously liable for his conduct under the dual purpose rule. The rule is not applicable, however, because Sundquist's purpose was primarily to benefit himself by getting to work to start another work day.

The dual purpose rule is an exception to the coming and going rule. Ahlstrom, 2002 UT 4 at ¶ 14.

If an employee's personal conduct benefits an employer, we have implied that the employer may be held liable where the predominant purpose of the conduct was not personal.

Id.

However, if the primary motivation for the employee's activity is personal, "even though there may be some transaction of business or performance of duty merely incidental or adjunctive thereto, the person should not be deemed to be in the scope of his employment."

Clover v. Snowbird Ski Resort, 808 P.2d 1037, 1041 (Utah 1991) (quoting Whitehead, 801 P.2d at 937 (quoting Martinson v. W-M Insurance Agency, Inc., 606 P.2d 256, 258 (Utah 1980))). If an employee's trip to or from work is not predominantly motivated to benefit the employer, the dual purpose rule does not apply. Ahlstrom, 2002 UT 4 at ¶ 15. If the benefits to the employer are only tangential to the employee's purpose of commuting to or from work, the dual purpose rule is inapplicable. Id. "Such tangential benefits are not enough to result in respondeat superior liability for the [employer] under the dual purpose exception to the coming and going rule." Id.

As set forth above in detail, Sundquist's predominant motivation for his commute was to get to work as required. That he carried with him some of White Water's materials is only a tangential benefit to White Water, but a substantial benefit to Sundquist. Newman's suggestion that there is no evidence that Sundquist's primary motivation was traveling to work, as opposed to transporting the materials, is inaccurate. Sundquist testified that he had to go to White Water's offices every work day to obtain his assignments and pick up his materials for that day. He also had to complete paperwork. The primary motivation for the trip was to report to work and receive the day's assignments, not to transport materials.

Newman also relies upon a test set forth in Whitehead in support of his argument for the applicability of the dual purpose exception to the coming and going rule.

One useful test is whether the trip is one which would have required the employer to send another employee over the same route or to perform the same function if the trip had not been made.

Whitehead, 801 P.2d at 937. However, Newman's reliance assumes that one of Sundquist's job duties was to transport White Water's products to and from his home. This was not one of his job duties. Instead, his duties included transporting the items to and from job sites for installation. Sundquist should not be able to create a dual purpose exception by taking materials home for his convenience when such conduct is outside the scope of his job duties. The fact that Sundquist took the products home to be returned the next day since he was going into work anyway "did not turn his daily commute into a trip primarily motivated by a business purpose, nor would [White Water] have needed to send someone else over the same route to accomplish any of its purposes." Id. White Water did not need the materials at Sundquist's home, nor did it request him to bring the items to his home. Sundquist could have simply returned the products to White Water's offices the night before, and then returned home for the evening. Id. It was merely incidental to White Water, but significantly beneficial to Sundquist, that he chose to take them home instead. Id. Such a circumstance should not create a dual purpose so as to thwart the purposes of the coming and going rule.

As such, the dual purpose rule does not create vicarious liability on the part of White Water for Sundquist's conduct. The coming and going rule applies and the trial court's ruling should be upheld.

III. SUNDQUIST WAS NOT ON A PERSONAL DETOUR; HE WENT HOME FOR THE EVENING.

Newman suggests that White Water attempts to invoke a personal detour or personal errand rule. This is inaccurate. White Water does, however, argue that Sundquist was not in the course and scope of his employment at the time of the accident, as set forth above. It is accurate to say that Sundquist went home after his last assignment the night before the accident. He was not temporarily on a personal errand or personal detour, any more than any person could be considered on such a detour when they go home at night after work.

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